IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

No. 97-10277

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

Versus

CHRISTOPHER MARTINEZ, RAUL OROZCO,
CANDELARIO MARTINEZ, RAUL MARTINEZ,

aka Roy Reyes Martinez, RAMON PERALEZ GOMEZ,
aka Ray Gomez, CHRISTOPHER BOATRIGHT,

Defendants-Appellants.

Appeal from the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas

August 18, 1998
Before KING, SMITH and STEWART, Circuit Judges.
STEWART, Circuit Judge:

Thisappeal arisesfroman alleged conspiracy to distribute marijuanaand cocainein Texasand
severa other states. Onappeal fromtheir convictionsand sentences, defendants-appel lantsarguethat
(1) the evidence was insufficient to convict certain defendants; (2) the district court abused its
discretion in controlling the scope of defense counsels' cross-examination of government witnesses;
(3) the prosecution failed to disclose impeachment information concerning government witnessesin
a timely fashion; (4) the district court abused its discretion in permitting a Drug Enforcement
Administration agent’ stestimony regarding the chain of custody of seized drugs; (5) the prosecution
improperly commented on the defendants' decision not to testify; (6) certain defendants received

ineffective assistance of counsel; (7) thedistrict court erred initsinstructionsto thejury; and (9) the



district court incorrectly sentenced certain defendants. For the reasons assigned, we AFFIRM the
decision of the district court.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This case arises from an aleged conspiracy to distribute marijuana and cocaine. The
government contendsthat Christopher Martinez (* Christopher”) obtai ned bulk quantitiesof marijuana
and cocaine on consignment from appellants Ramon Peralez Gomez and Raul Orozco. Christopher
supposedly distributed the marijuana and cocaineto appellants Candelario Martinez, Raul Martinez,
and Christopher Boatright, among other individuas, for further distribution in Texas, Oklahoma,
Virginia, and el sewhere. Thedrugsand money derived from these salesand distributionswere stored
at the residences of Christopher and Boatright. Christopher allegedly used the income from hisdrug
distribution enterprise to pay Gomez and Orozco for the drugs that they supplied.

The government established its case against the appellants through the cooperation of severd
government witnesses, but mainly throughthat of Stewart Porter—aprivate pilot who waspreviously
involved in drug dealing with Christopher. Porter agreed to cooperate after policetold him hewould
not be prosecuted for his own drug activities if he cooperated in the investigation of Christopher.

Porter provided considerabl e evidence about the drug trafficking activities of Christopher and
the other appellants. Much of his knowledge stemmed from the fact that he piloted Christopher on
severd trips and also piloted flights to deliver drugs and money at Christopher and the other
appellants' direction. On several such flights, Porter witnessed Christopher make deals with certain
individualsto distribute hiscocainein periodic shipments. On onetrip, Christopher met with Orozco
and the two appellants agreed that Orozco would provide drugs on consignment and that Porter
would fly the payments for the drugs to Orozco. After the deal was struck, Porter made numerous
flights to deliver the payments from Martinez to Orozco. These payments ranged from $30,000 to
$180,000.

On April 20, 1995, Christopher gave $226,000 to Elgin Allen (aka Allen Hammer), aDallas

disc jockey, to purchase 15 kilograms of cocaine in Dallas. It so happened that Allen made such



purchase from undercover police officers. Allenwasarrested asaresult of the purchase. After Allen
was released on bail, Christopher provided him money for attorney’ sfees. After Allen’s conviction
and sentencing, he testified for the government at the appellants’ trial. In addition to the
government’ suseof theaforementioned “informants’ to exposethedrug trafficking ring, Christopher
was tape-recorded discussing his drug business—mentioning 400 and 600 “keys’ (kilograms of
drugs), and noting that 400 kilograms was worth $4 million. On August 1, 1995, Porter and
Boatright had a tape-recorded conversation about drug trafficking.

Porter provided agents with information which led to the October 3, 1995 discovery of 90
pounds of marijuana during awarrant search of the residence of Candelario Martinez (Christopher’s
brother-in-law) and Raul Martinez (Christopher’ sbrother). Orozco allegedly was the source of the
marijuana. During the search, officers seized drug paraphernalia, an accounting book for drug
transactions, and two receipts from Christopher for $3,000 each.

A November 16, 1995 search of Christopher’ sresidence pursuant to awarrant resulted inthe
discovery of $514,711 in cash drug proceeds aswell as drug paraphernalia, drug trafficking records,
and a small amount of marijuana. Porter verified that prior to the search he had seen Christopher
wrap the cash proceedsin bundles of $10,000 and that the two had discussed the anticipated returns
from drug distribution transactionswith Gomez. Following the search, Christopher told Porter that
just prior to the search, he had become concerned that his house was under surveillance and had
directed one of his*“employees’ to remove from the property a vehicle containing ten kilograms of
cocaine. A set of drug notes seized during the search referred to five kilograms of cocaine for the
price of $16,500 each (presumably $16,500 per kilogram).

OnFebruary27, 1996, appellants Christopher, Candel ario M artinez, Raul Martinez, Boatright
and two others attempted to burn aresidence in Arlington, Texas that was owned by a person who
had not paid money he owed to Christopher for aconsignment of tenkilogramsof cocaine. Members
of thisgroup made “Molotov cocktails’ from Coke bottles, gasoline, and ragsin furtherance of their

plan.



On June 18, 1996, an indictment was returned charging all six appellants (and three other
codefendants) with conspiracy to distribute cocaine and marijuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8846;
charging appellants Christopher (three counts) and Orozco (one count) with money laundering, in
violationof 18 U.S.C. 81956(a); and seeking criminal forfeiture against Christopher and Orozco (and
one other codefendant), under 21 U.S.C. 8853. On June 25, 1996, five of the six appellants (all
except Orozco) were arrested. On September 3, 1996, Orozco was stopped for atraffic violation.
Theofficersdiscovered that therewasan outstanding federal warrant for Orozco for drug distribution
and arrested him.

After afive-day jury trial, al appellants were convicted on all of the aforementioned counts.*
The digtrict court sentenced Christopher to life imprisonment and criminal forfeiture of $770,711,
Orozco to 168 monthsimprisonment, crimina forfeiture of $19,900 and afine of $25,000; Candelario
Martinez to 235 months imprisonment; Raul Martinez to 262 months imprisonment and a fine of
$25,000; Gomez to 262 months imprisonment; and Boatright to 168 months imprisonment. These
appedls followed.

DISCUSSION
I

Thefirst issue that appellantsraise in their briefs is whether there was sufficient evidence to
prove the drug trafficking conspiracy charge against Orozco and the money laundering charges
againgt Orozco and Martinez. Review for sufficiency of the evidence is decidedly narrow—a
conviction must be affirmed if arational trier of fact could have found that the evidence established

the essential elements of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v. Mmahat, 106 F.3d 89,

97 (5th Cir. 1997). Theevidenceisviewed in the light most favorable to the verdict and this court
indulges al reasonable inferences in favor of the verdict. 1d. This circuit has noted that “[w]hen

reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the facts and all reasonable

'Codefendants Esmerelda Martinez (Christopher’s wife), David Macias, and Juan Alfredo
Martinez (relationship to Christopher, if any, is not established in the record) were acquitted by the

jury.



inferencestherefromwill be viewed inthelight most favorableto the court’ sfindings.” United States
v. Garcia, 917 F.2d 1370, 1376 (5th Cir. 1990) (internal citations omitted).

Appellant Orozco contends that there was insufficient evidence to prove his membership in
the drug trafficking conspiracy. The record reveals that Porter’ s testimony at trial established that
1) Orozco entered into an agreement with Christopher to supply Christopher with cocaine on
consgnment for further distribution and 2) Porter made no fewer than nine flights to deliver
approximately $700,000 in cash payments for cocaine to Orozco. We find that such evidence is
sufficient to prove membership in a drug conspiracy. Moreover, as the government urges, Porter’s
testimony was corroborated by entriesin hisflight log and his credibility was aso supported by tape
recordings and surveillance.

The jury is entitled to beieve a witness unless the testimony is so incredible that it defies

physical laws. United Statesv. Lerma, 657 F.2d 786, 789 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 921

(1982). Further, the evidence does not have to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence.

United Statesv. Leed, 981 F.2d 202, 205 (5th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 2971 (1993). The

jury’s reasonable determination that Porter was a credible witness cannot be disturbed on appeal.

United States v. Westbrook, 119 F.3d 1176, 1190 (5th Cir. 1997) (asserting deference to jury

assessment’ sof credibility). In United Statesv. Morgan, 117 F.3d 849, 854 n. 2 (5th Cir. 1997), this

court noted that “[c]redibility issues are for the finder of fact and do not undermine the sufficiency
of the evidence.” (Internal citations omitted).

Christopher and Orozco challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to prove that the money
involved in the three money laundering transactions was the proceeds of drug trafficking and that the
transactions furthered drug trafficking operations. The appellants claim that the district court
misconstrued the elementsnecessary to sustainamoney laundering convictionunder 18 U.S.C. 81956
and erroneously equated drug purchase money with disposing of unlawful proceeds (money
laundering).

Theevidence offered at trial indicated that virtually al the money that Christopher possessed



was drug money and that the transactions he entered were conducted with the intent to promote the
drug trafficking operation. Itistheintent to promotetheillegal activity, the government argues, that
is the decisive eement of the money laundering statute. It is clear from the evidence that Orozco
knew that Christopher took drugs on consignment and paid for them with money raised from the
distribution of the drugs. We agree with the government that from the evidence presented at trid,
thejury could readily infer that the substantial amounts of $226,000 and $20,000 involved in Counts
2 and 4, respectively, were knowingly acquired by Christopher in whole or in part from drug
trafficking. We find appellants’ argument that the drug proceeds were not used to further illegal
activities unconvincing. The evidence indicates that illegal proceeds were used to further illegal
activitiesintheinstant matter. Becausethejury found such evidence convincing, wewill not overturn
its finding.
[

Appdllants Orozco and Boatright argue that the district court abused its discretion in
controlling the scope of defense counsels' cross-examination of government witnesses. Orozco’s
argument focuses on the district court’s “constant interruption” of his attorney during cross-
examination, while Boatright’ sargument centerson the rather nebulous “inability” to cross-examine
Drug Enforcement Administration chemist Ann Castillo. While conceding that the district court
regulated cross-examination firmly, the government asserts that the district court acted in a fair
manner and in accordance with Fed. R. Evid. 611(a).

The district court limited appellants’ cross-examination of government witnesses in severd
respects including: 1) permitting only one defense counsdl to examine a cooperating government
witness concerning any benefits he would receive for his testimony; 2) confining cross-examination
to the scope of the direct examination; and 3) barring repetitive questions. Defense counsel and the
jurorsweretold at the outset of thetrial that cross-examination was to be conducted in such manner
and the jury was cautioned not to construe against a defendant the fact that his counseal did not ask

the same question that had been asked by another defense counsel previoudly.



A district court’ srestrictionson cross-examination arereviewed for clear abuse of discretion.

United Statesv. Bryant, 991 F.2d 171, 175 (5th Cir. 1993). Under Fed. R. Evid. 611(a), the district

court may exercise reasonable control over the method of interrogating witnesses. This court has
held that Rule 611(a) provides the district court with wide latitude to impose reasonable limits on
cross-examination subject to the Sixth Amendment requirement that sufficient cross-examination be
permitted to exposeto the jurorsfacts from which they can draw inferencesrelating to the reiability

of witnesses. United Statesv. Restivo, 8 F.3d 274, 278 (5th Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 613 U.S. 807

(1994). In order to show an abuse of discretion related to the limitations placed on cross-
examination, a defendant must show that those limitations were clearly pregudicia. 1d.

Appellants do not demonstrate that the aforementioned limitations were clearly prgudicial.
Though Orozco indsts that his counsal was improperly interrupted and censured during his
guestioning, he makes no showing that by holding his counsel to pre-established limitations the court
prejudiced Orozco himsdf. Thus, if there was any error to Orozco, the government correctly
concludes that it was harmless. The government does not specifically respond to Boatright’s
contentions. Because Boatright's arguments are rather ambiguous, we conclude after closely
reviewing the record that his claims are devoid of merit.

[

Appdlant Boatright urges that the prosecution failed to disclose impeachment evidencein a
timely manner. Boatright suggests that such withheld evidence included: 1) documentation relating
to Stewart Porter’ s drug use and 2) documentation from government informant Michael Rodriguez
detailing the conspiracy in which Boatright’s name did not appear. Boatright insists that such
documents were revealed well after the trial commenced. Asserting that the failure to disclosethese
items amounts to prosecutorial misconduct, Boatright invites this court to find that a Jencks Act
violation occurred and his conviction should thus be reversed. Boatright further suggests that the

withheld information was excul patory in nature.

Whether disclosures of impeachment information violate any constitutional or statutory right



of the defendant isdetermined asaquestion of law. East v. Scott, 55 F.3d 996, 1002 (5th Cir. 1995).
This court reviews questions of law de novo. In the Matter of Taylor, 132 F.3d 256, 259 (5th Cir.

1998).
The Jencks Act provides, in pertinent part, that:

After a witness called by the United States has testified on direct
examination, the court shall, on motion of the defendant, order the
United Statesto produce any statement (as hereinafter defined) of the
witness in the possession of the United States which relates to the
subject matter as to which the witness has testified.

18 U.S.C. § 3500 (emphasis added). The Jencks Act does not require production of a witness

statement until after the witness has testified on direct examination. United Statesv. Neal, 27 F.3d

1035, 1049 n. 26 (5th Cir. 1994), cert. denied 513 U.S. 1179 (1995). With regard to matters that
are not excul patory or impeaching, thereis no requirement that the government provide open-ended

disclosure of itsfiles. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109 (1976); United States v. Johnson,

872 F.2d 612, 619 (5th Cir. 1989). Further, there can be no due processviolation “[i]f the defendant

received the material intimeto put it to effective use at trial.” United Statesv. McKinney, 758 F.2d

1036, 1049-50 (5th Cir. 1985). The district court in the instant specifically found that “[n]o
defendant has made any showing that exculpatory or mitigating evidence was withheld from him.”
Having reviewed the record, we find no indication that information was withheld from
Boatright’ s counsel or that he was not afforded a meaningful opportunity to useit at trial. Boatright
does not point to any specific information that he did not receive in time to use during cross-
examination, nor does he indicate any prejudicia violation. Though we do not find that a Jencks Act

violation occurred with regard to Boatright, we reiterate this circuit’ s holding that:

the government’ s faillure to comply with the Jencks Act does not per

serequire anew tria. In Goldberg v. United States, [425 U.S. 94,

111, 96 S.Ct. 1338, 1348, 47 L.Ed.2d 603 (1967)] the court said that,

if the error was harmless, a new trial would not be required. It

elaborated what it meant: Since courts cannot “ speculate whether

(Jencks material) could have been utilized effectively” at trid, . . . the
harmless-error doctrine must be strictly applied in Jencks Act cases .

United States v. Beadey, 576 F.2d 626, 629 (5th Cir. 1978). We regject Boatright’'s Jencks Act

8



clams.
A

Appellants Orozco, Candelario Martinez, Raul Martinez, Gomez, and Boatright argue that
Drug Enforcement Administration (*DEA™) chemist Ann Castillo’ stestimony and her claim of Fifth
Amendment privilege on cross-examination violated their rights under the Confrontation Clause of
the Sixth Amendment.

Cadtillo was called by the prosecution for the limited purpose of testifying to the chain of
custody of a government drug exhibit. The government claims that it was known before her
testimony that she would claim her Fifth Amendment privilege if the defense attempted to impeach
her on cross-examination regarding her misconduct in other matters. While allowing Castillo’s
invocation of the Fifth Amendment, the court nonetheless permitted defense counsel to admit into
evidence adeposition which included Castillo’ s admission of the misconduct. Thus, the government
suggests that the invocation of the Fifth Amendment privilege was somehow “balanced” by the

opportunity for the defense to present to the jury the incriminating aspects of Castillo’s deposition.

The scope of cross-examination iswithin the province of thetrial judge and isto bereviewed
only for abuse of discretion. Restivo, 8 F.3d at 279. To demonstrate such an abuse, appellants must
show that the limitations imposed upon their counsels cross-examination were clearly prejudicidl.
Id. (internal citationsomitted). Once again, the appellants havefailed to demonstrate that such clear
prejudice occurred. Because the chain of custody testimony offered by Castillo did not provide the
basis for their conviction in the manner that the testimony of Porter or Allen may have, appellants
argument that their constitutional rights were violated is not supportable. Moreover, the record
amply demonstratesthat Castillo’ s deposition acknowledging misconduct provided defense counsel
with the ammunition it sought to impeach her credibility before the jury. We thus rgject the claims
of impairment of their Sixth Amendment right to confront Castillo.

\Y



Appellants Orozco, Candelario Martinez, Raul Martinez, and Gomez suggest that certain
statements made by the prosecution constituted improper comments on their decision not to testify.
During closing arguments, defense counsel argued that Ms. Castillo was not credible because she had
engaged in official misconduct and claimed her Fifth Amendment privilege at trial. The prosecutor
then stated,
You know, they talk about inconsistencies and things that might
bother you. We've heard emotiona speeches about they have a
constitutional right to remain silent and it’ svaluableto protect people
againgt al these accusations and things. But at the sametimeyou’'ve
been told that, “Here’s Ann Castillo, and you shouldn’t believe her
because she's been accused.”

Defense counsel objected, arguing that thiswasacomment on defendants’ silence. Thedistrict court

disagreed, but nonethel ess provided a curative instruction to the jury as follows:
Weél, | didn’t take that as being acomment, but if there was any such
comment, of course, the jury will disregard that. . . . [I]f any such
comment was made, [the objection] was sustained, and | instruct the
jury to disregard it.

Appellants note that the Supreme Court has held that the Fifth Amendment forbids either
comment by the prosecution on the accused’ s silence or instruction by the court that such silenceis

evidence of guilt. Griffin v. Cdifornia, 380 U.S. 609, 615, 85 S.Ct. 1229, 1233, 14 L.Ed.2d 106

(1965). Thisincludes both direct and indirect references to a defendant’s silence. United Statesv.

Bright, 630 F.2d 804, 825 (5th Cir. 1980). Appellants suggest that because none of the defendants
testified at trial, thereisahigh probability that the prosecutor’ s statement influenced the jury verdict.
Theyinsst that thedistrict court’ sinstructionthat thejury disregard such statement wasnot sufficient
to cure the harm that occurred.

Whether a prosecutor’ s argument is an impermissible comment on the defendant’ s right not

to testify, and the efficacy of the curativeinstruction, isreviewed de novo. United Statesv. Johnston,

127 F.3d 380, 396 (5th Cir. 1997). “The test for determining whether a prosecutor’s remarks
congtitute a comment on a defendant’s silence is a twofold alternative one: (1) whether the

prosecutor’ s manifest intent wasto comment on the defendant’ ssilence or (2) whether the character

10



of the remark was such that the jury would naturally and necessarily construe it as acomment on the

defendant’ ssilence.” United Statesv. MacKay, 33 F.3d 489, 495 (5th Cir. 1994). The prosecutor’s

statement in the instant matter did not satisfy either prong of this test. Taken at face value, the
prosecutor’ scomments do appear to reflect upon the defendants’ decision not to testify, but—asthe
government argues on appea—instead embrace appellants' argument that an accused hasaright not
to testify against himself. The prosecutor did not direct the jury to draw any conclusion from the
defendants decision not to testify, but merely suggested that Ms. Castillo’s own decision should be
respected inasmilar manner. The obvious purpose of the curative instruction wasto direct the jury
to disregard any implication that could be understood as a disparagement of defendants’ election to
remain silent. Based on these facts, this court cannot determine that the district court plainly erred
initsactions. We find that appellants’ argument is unpersuasive.
VI

Prior totrial, thegovernment gave noticeof forfeitureto Christopher and hiswife, Esmerelda,
regarding the $514,711 found in their home. The form contesting the government’s forfeiture
apparently bore signatures of both Christopher and EsmereldaMartinez, but Mrs. Martinez' scounsel
sought to prove that Christopher had signed for his wife without her knowledge or consent. This
effort to demonstrate her lack of involvement in her husband’ s drug transactions was part of Mrs.
Martinez' soverall defense strategy. Christopher’s counsel agreed it was “undisputed” that the form
did not bear Mrs. Martinez' s signature when counsel sent it to Christopher injail. Mrs. Martinez's
counsel sought to have Christopher’s counsel testify to these facts. The court ultimately put
Christopher’s counsel to the choice of stipulating to these facts or testifying as to them. Counsel
refused to stipulate and was forced to testify over objection. Christopher asserts that the
district court’s requirement that defense counsel testify at trial created a conflict of interest that
constituted ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his Sixth Amendment rights. He further
argues that the district court denied him a fair trial by forcing his counsel to choose between

stipulating or testifying. To establish aclaim of ineffective assistance of counsel, appellant must show

11



that counsdl’ s performance was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense to the extent
that the result would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

Demonstrating ineffective assistance of counsel by showing an actual conflict of interest requiresthat
appellant make ashowing “that hisattorney labored under an actual conflict which adversely affected
hislawyer’ sperformance.” Portillo v. Johnson, 79 F.3d 441, 447 (5th Cir. 1996). A lawyer testifying

during the trial of his client does not constitute a per se conflict of interest, but instead must be
evaluated under the “totality of the circumstances’ to determine whether an actual conflict exists

between the interests of the lawyer and client. Uptain v. United States, 692 F.2d 8, 10 (5th Cir.

1982).

The government makes a sound argument when it urges that Christopher hasfailed to show
that his counsel had divided loyalties and that he operated pursuant to an actual conflict as aresult.
Wefind that the decisionfor counsel to testify rather than enter into astipul ation wasatactical choice
that can be construed as a waiver of any conflict clam. Moreover, defense counsel’s electon to
testify did not prgudice Christopher in any significant manner. This case does not involve
representation of multiple defendants by one attorney and Christopher does not assert any basis for
his counsdl to have a conflicting self-interest that would force him to ignore or undermine the
interests of his client.

Conflict of interest can aso occur if counsel offers significant testimony against his client.
Here, counsd testified to undisputed facts and his testimony did not contribute significantly to
Christopher’s conviction for drug trafficking. The government therefore asserts that no prejudice
occurred because of counsdl’s testimony. While it is a genera rule in this circuit that a party’s
attorney should not be called as a witness unless his testimony is both necessary and unobtainable

from other sources, United Statesv. Crockett, 506 F.2d 759, 760 (5th Cir. 1975), it isaso the case

that wherealawyer’ stestimony does not actually incriminate his client, thereisno Sixth Amendment
violation. 1d. at 761.

We find that Christopher mistakenly relies upon cases in which attorneys testified against

12



clientsin order to excul pate their own crimind ligbility. See United Statesv. Ellison, 798 F.2d 1102,

1107 (7th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1038 (1987). In the instant matter, there does not
appear to bethe suggestion that Christopher’ slawyer wasimplicated in any wrongdoing. Thus, such
cases do not apply.

Christopher does not demonstrate, nor does the record reveal any actual conflict or actual
pregjudice that might persuade this court to sustain his ineffective assistance of counsel claim.
Accordingly, we find no error on the part of the trial court.

VII

During trid, two items unrelated to the case were erroneously handed over to the jury —a
bag containing awhite, powdery substance and asmdl plaid case. Theseitemsweregiventothejury
along with other items proper for consideration in the case. The court was made aware of thejury’s
exposureto theitemswhen, after thejury had begun deliberations, it sent anoteto the court inquiring
about therelevance of the packet of white, powdery material. Thejudge proposed thefollowing note
be given to the jury in response to its inquiry, and the response was provided without objection:

In answer to your note, please be advised that the item to which you

referred in your note wasinadvertently included among the exhibitsin

thiscase. Itisnot anexhibit inthiscaseand it has nothing whatsoever

to do with this case. It is an exhibit that was inadvertently put with

the exhibitsinthiscase. Y ou should not take the item into account in

any respect in your deliberations.
Later the same day, the jury sent a note inquiring about the plaid case to which the judge sent a
response nearly identical to that regarding the white substance.

Candelario Martinez, Raul Martinez, Gomez, and Boatright argue that the district court
committed reversible error by falling to conduct an evidentiary inquiry following thejury’ sexposure
to the items and abused its discretion by denying appellants’ motion for new trial based on such
fallure. Appellantssuggest that thejury wasclearly prejudiced by the extrinsic evidence both because
the bag containing the white substance mistakenly bore alabel with the same case number asthe other
exhibitsin evidence and thejury sent anote requesting specific information regarding the bag of white

powder as well as the plaid case. The apparent conclusion, note appellants, was that the white

13



powder was cocaine.
Thiscourt has held that “[w]here a colorable showing of extrinsic influence appears, acourt

must investigate the asserted impropriety . . .”. United States v. Sanchez-Sotello, 8 F.3d 202, 212

(5th Cir. 1993) (internal citation omitted). Appellantsposit that “adefendant isentitled to anew tria
when extringc evidenceisintroduced into thejury room* unlessthereisnot reasonabl e possibility that

thejury’s verdict was influenced by the material that improperly came beforeit.” ” United Statesv.

Luffred, 911 F.2d 1011, 1014 (5th Cir. 1990) (internal quotation omitted). This rule creates a
rebuttable presumption of prejudiceto the defendant, and the “ government hasthe burden of proving
the harmlessness of the breach.” 1d. Appellants further insist that they did not waive this point of
error as the government suggests, but note that the district court had an affirmative duty to

investigate the extrinsic influence. Sanchez-Sotello, 8 F.3d at 212.

The government contends, and we agree, that the court was under no affirmative duty to
conduct afactual inquiry as the two items were clearly not exhibits in the case, the court sent clear
instructions to this effect, and the jury’s notes revea that neither item was considered during
deliberations. The government further asserts that appellants failed promptly to request a factual
hearing or object to the content of the court’s responses. It also notes that because appellants
motionsfor new trial did not demonstrate any way in which the disregarded items could have affected
the jury verdict, the district court was correct to deny such motions.

Appellantsrely on the Sanchez-Sotello decision, in which the court ordered an investigation

of extringc influences in the form of one juror’s comments about the case to another. While they
arguethat extrinsi c physical evidence should betreated no differently than juror’ scomments, theissue

truly turns on the material and prgjudicial impact of the physical evidence as the Luffred court held.

We find that the appellants have not made any showing that the jury was likely mided or in any way
influenced by the items erroneoudly placed in the jury room. Because no such showing of extrinsic
influence was made, the court was under no duty to investigate the aleged influence. Wethusreject

appellants' argument.

14



VI
Christopher clamsthat hereceived ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing because his
attorney continually sought withdrawal from the case during the time the Probation Office was
compiling its Presentence Report (PSR). Christopher aleges that his attorney “forbade” the
Probation Office from interviewing him (Christopher) and that his attorney never provided any
information regarding sentencing to Probation. At sentencing, Christopher’ scounsel offered several
objectionsto the PSR, including objectionsto the credibility of withesses on which the drug-quantity
calculation wasbased. Counsel failed, however, to offer any evidencein support of those objections,
apart from his efforts at trial to discredit the government’ s witnesses. Christopher argues that such
failure constituted ineffective assistance of counsdl.

The district court’ s fact-finding at sentencing is reviewed for clear error. United States v.

Morgan, 117 F.3d 849, 859 (5th Cir., 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 454 (1997). Based on facts
established in the record, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is resolved de novo, although
it must be raised on collateral review if it relies on facts not fully developed in the record. United
Statesv. Chavez-Vaencia, 116 F.3d 127, 133-34 (5th Cir. 1997). Arguing that defense counsel’s

decision was atactical one, the government contendsthat it cannot support an ineffective assistance

clam. United Statesv. Green, 116 F.3d 1115 (5th Cir. 1997). It further notesthat Christopher was

sentenced on the basis of the PSR’ s cal culation that his offense conduct involved 706.1 kilograms of
cocaine and 328.5 kilograms of marijuana and that these quantities were based on thetrial testimony
of government witnesses—Porter, in particular. This calculation resulted in a base offense level of
38, which was enhanced two levelsfor the firebombing associated with the drug trafficking and four
levelsfor Christopher’ sleadership roleinthe conspiracy. Theresulting level was44, whichislimited
by the Sentencing Guidelines to a total offense level of 43. Based on this offense level and
Christopher’scrimina history category 111 level, the applicable guideline range is life imprisonment.
Christopher does not suggest any specific evidentiary submission that would have aided hisargument

and it would appear that there was nothing further defense counsel could do for his client.

15



Christopher aso argues that the district court violated due process of law by imposinga
sentence of life imprisonment based on his offense conduct when only approximately 40 kilograms
of marijuana was actually seized by government authorities in connection with his drug operation.
The government argues in response that a defendant convicted of a drug trafficking conspiracy is
responsible for the quantity of drugs involved in the conspiracy that was reasonably foreseeable by
him. U.S.S.G. §1B1.3(a)(1)(B); United States v. Garza, 118 F.3d 278, 286 (5th Cir. 1997).

Becausethe drug conspiracy involved thetotal quantity of drugs, it isirrelevant what quantity
wasactually seized by law enforcement officers or what quantity wasalleged intheindictment. Drug
guantity is a sentencing factor and is not an element that must be aleged in thisindictment. United

States v. Castillo, 77 F.3d 1480, 1486 (5th Cir. 1996). Thus, the government is correct in its

argument that a penalty based on conduct that was an e ement of the offense of the conviction cannot
violate a defendant’ s due process rights. We find that Christopher’s claim fails.

Additionaly, Orozco maintains that the trial court erred in imposing a $25,000 fine as a
condition of his sentence. He claims that his PSR substantiates his indigent status and makes no
recommendation concerning his ability to pay afine. He further asserts that he does not have the

resources to pay such asignificant fine. Orozco notes that in United Statesv. Fair, 979 F.2d 1037,

1041 (5th Cir. 1992), this court urged the district court on remand to reconsider the appellant’s
indigenceaswell asother factorsin determining whether it was appropriate to impose a$20,000 fine.
The government notes that the Sentencing Guidelines provide a fine range of $17,500 to $175,000
for Orozco’ s offense level and that the actual $25,000 fine imposed was a modest one. Further, the
government points out that the district court, recognizing that the fine might not be readily payable,
designed a payment plan for Orozco.?

The Sentencing Guidelines provide that “[t]he court shall impose afine in all cases, except

*Thetrial judge ordered the $25,000 payable immediately, but also ordered that if the fine had not
been paid by the beginning of Orozco’s supervised release, Orozco would make payments of $300
per month on al unpaid amounts beginning 60 days after his release from prison until the fine was
paid off in full.
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where the defendant establishes that he is unable to pay and is not likely to become able to pay any
fine” U.S.S.G. 85E1.2(a). District courts areto determine the fine using the criteria set forth in the
Guidedlines, including “ any evidence presented as to the defendant’ s ability to pay the fine (including
the ability to pay over a perio d of time) in light of his earning capacity and financial resourceq[.]”
U.S.S.G. 8§ 5E1.2(d)(2). The Fair court noted that “[i]t is undisputed that the guidelines place the
burden of proving an inability to pay a fine squarely on the defendant. Fair, 979 F.2d at 1041
(internal citations omitted). The government asserts that Orozco did not meet his burden of
establishing inability to pay because he did not provide complete financial information to the
Probation Department.

We find the government’ s argument persuasive. In Fair, we held that “a defendant may rely
on the PSR to establish hisinability to pay afine or cost of incarceration.” Fair, 979 F.2d at 1041.
That court noted that when a sentencing court adopts a PSR showing limited or no ability to pay a
fine, the government must then come forward with evidence showing that a defendant can, in fact,
pay a fine before one can be imposed. Id. The instant matter differs from Fair, however, in that
Orozco failed to provide enough financid datato establish hisinability to pay inthe PSR. The PSR
expressly stated that Orozco did not return the Personal Financial Statement he was provided,
consequently the probation officer had no information from which to make an assessment of
defendant’ s ability to pay afine. Thetrial court acknowledged at sentencing that it could not firmly
determine defendant’ sability to pay afine because of insufficient information. Because Orozco falled
to establish that he is unable to pay afine and isunlikely to become able to pay afine, the trial court
did not abuse its discretion by imposing the $25,000 fine and giving Orozco until the end of his
pretria release to pay it. We find no error on the part of the trial court.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the decision of the district court in all respects.
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